IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NUMBER: SC06-779 L.T. CASE NO.: 05-10559-BB

AUTO-OWNERS INSURANCE COMPANY,

Appellant,

VS.

POZZI WINDOW COMPANY,

Appellee.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT AUTO-OWNERS INSURANCE COMPANY

ON A QUESTION CERTIFIED FROM UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE ELEVENTH CIRCUIT

DENISE V. POWERS, P.A.
Denise V. Powers, Esq.
2600 Douglas Road
Suite 501
Coral Gables, Florida 33134
Ph: (305) 444-5100
Fax: (305) 444-4455

INTRODUCTION

This brief is filed on behalf of Auto-Owners Insurance Company, which was the Defendant before U.S. District Court for the Southern District of Florida and the Appellant in the Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals. Auto-Owners Insurance Company will be referred to as Auto-Owners or the insurer. James Irby and Coral Construction will be collectively be referred to as the insureds. Appellee Pozzi Window Company will be referred to as Pozzi or the manufacturer.

The citations to the record (D.E.) are those to the Record and Docket Entries in the District Court for the Southern District of Florida. The Eleventh Circuit has transmitted that record to this Court.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case is before this Court on a question certified by the United States

Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit, pursuant to article V, section 3(b)(6),

Florida Constitution.

Pozzi, as assignee of the insureds, Coral Construction of South Florida Inc. (Coral) and James Irby (Irby), sued Auto-Owners in the District Court for the Southern District of Florida for breach of contract and for bad faith. (D.E. 1) Auto-Owners had issued to Coral and Irby, its president, two Comprehensive General Liability (CGL) policies of insurance. (D.E. 1, Ex. C) Auto-Owners

moved to dismiss the complaint based on the pendency of a state court declaratory action which motion was denied. (D.E. 10, 20) Auto-Owners filed an Answer, Counterclaim and Third Party claim seeking declaratory relief against Pozzi, Coral, and Irby and for a determination that Auto-Owners owed no duty to defend Coral and Irby in the underlying claim that Pozzi had filed in state court against Coral and Irby. (D.E. 23)

Both Auto-Owners and Pozzi filed Motions for Summary Judgment on the issue of coverage for Pozzi's claims against the insureds under the insurance policy. (D.E. 64, 74) Coral and Irby filed a Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings, or in the Alternative for Summary Judgment on the Third Party claim. (D.E. 67, 68)

The district court judge granted Pozzi's Motion for Summary Judgment, denied Auto-Owners' motion, and granted judgment on the pleadings to Coral and Irby. (D.E. 91)

The parties consented to trial before the magistrate judge. (D.E. 96) Just prior to trial and after a status conference before the magistrate judge and after the taking the deposition of the 30(b)(6) corporate representative produced by Pozzi, Auto-Owners filed a Motion to Strike or Limit Damages. (D.E. 108) The hearing on the motion was held the week before trial. (D.E. 205) The magistrate denied

the motion but allowed Pozzi to file an amended complaint seeking punitive damages. (D.E. 123) Pozzi then filed an Amended Complaint (D.E. 124) and the case proceeded to trial as scheduled.

The case went to jury trial on the issue of the reasonableness of the consent judgment between Pozzi and the insureds and bad faith and damages. The jury found that the settlement between Coral, Irby and Pozzi was not the product of fraud or collusion, that the amount of the consent judgment was not reasonable or in good faith, and that \$300,000 was a reasonable amount. (D.E. 146) The jury also found that Auto-Owners acted in bad faith and awarded Pozzi \$500,000 in punitive damages. (Id.)

On post trial motions, the trial court granted in part and denied in part Auto-Owners' Motion for Judgment as a Matter of Law. (D.E. 180) The trial court granted Auto-Owners' motion as to bad faith and punitive damages (Id.) and entered an Amended Final Judgment for \$300,000.00. (D.E. 181) This amended final judgment was later amended to include a joint calculation of prejudgment interest. (D.E. 189)

Auto-Owners filed an appeal to the Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals, which issued its decision in *Pozzi Window Co. v. Auto-Owners Ins. Co.*, 446 F.3d 1178 (11th Cir. 2006). The Eleventh Circuit affirmed the granting of judgment as

a matter of law on the issues of bad faith and punitive damages. *Id.* at 1189. The Eleventh Circuit has certified the question of insurance coverage to this Court pursuant to article V, section 3(b)(6), Florida Constitution.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Underlying case and proceedings:

The current case has its origin in a lawsuit where Jorge Perez (Perez), a homeowner and prominent real estate developer, sued Pozzi, a window manufacturer, in the Eleventh Judicial Circuit in and for Miami-Dade County, Florida, *Perez v. Pozzi Windows Co. et al.*, Case No: 97-23145 CA 21. (D.E. 1, Ex. 1) This is the "underlying case or claim." Perez asserted claims against Pozzi for negligence, strict liability, and breach of express warranty for the windows installed in the Perez home. In that state court suit, Pozzi filed an Amended Cross Claim against Coral and Irby. (D.E.1, Ex. B)

Coral and Irby had constructed a multi-million dollar house for Perez, which included windows manufactured by Pozzi and installed by a subcontractor. In the underlying claim by Pozzi against Coral and Irby, Pozzi alleged that Coral was the general contractor for the construction of the Perez home and that Coral had failed to adequately supervise the subcontractor's installation of the Pozzi windows at the Perez residence. (D.E. 1, Ex. B) Pozzi also sued Irby as the qualifier for the

project and claimed that Irby failed to oversee the installation of the windows. (Id.)

Pozzi settled part of Perez's claims and entered into a settlement agreement. (D.E. 1, Ex. B) As part of the settlement with the homeowner, Perez, "Pozzi agreed to remedy the defective installation of the windows. In exchange, Perez agreed that if he pursued damages against Pozzi, Pozzi's liability to Perez shall not exceed \$20,000.00." (D.E. 1, Ex. B, ¶19)

Pozzi's Amended Cross Claim in the underlying case contained one count against Coral and one against Irby, both for equitable subrogation. (Id.) The Amended Cross Claim sought to recoup "the expenses associated with the repair and reinstallation of the Pozzi windows and the repair of certain damages to the Perez residence which Pozzi has undertaken in the Settlement Agreement." (D.E.1, Ex. B, ¶¶ 41, 50) The "Wherefore" clause in both counts sought "all damages or losses for which Pozzi has incurred in connection with the repair and replacement of the window units, including, but not limited to, attorneys' fees and costs." (D.E., Ex. B) The Settlement Agreement between Pozzi and Perez at paragraph 3(a)i-vii details the repair and replacement of the windows which Pozzi agreed to perform.

Auto-Owners sent a reservation of rights letter and defended Coral and Irby under a reservation of rights due to lack of coverage for the claim of construction

defects and repair of those defects. (D.E. 1, Ex. D; 214, page 96) Auto-Owners paid Perez for his claim against the insureds for damages to his property caused by the insureds. (D.E. 216, pages 37-38)

Auto-Owners also filed a declaratory action in state court. (D.E. 10, Ex. A and B) While the declaratory action was pending and after a mediation of the underlying case, Pozzi entered into a settlement agreement with Coral and Irby. (D.E.1, Ex. E) As part of the settlement, Pozzi obtained a consent judgment against Coral and Irby for \$646,726. (D.E. 1, Ex. F) While the state declaratory action was still pending, Pozzi filed suit in federal court.

The Policy provisions:

The Auto-Owners' policy (D.E. 1, Ex. C) contains the following provisions:

COVERAGE A. BODILY INJURY AND PROPERTY DAMAGE

LIABILITY

- 1. Insuring Agreement.
 - a. We will pay those sums that the insured becomes legally obligated to pay as damages because of "bodily injury" or "property damage" to which this insurance applies. We will have the right and duty to defend any "suit" seeking those damages.
 - b. This insurance applies to "bodily injury" or "property damage" only if:
 - (1) the "bodily injury" or "property damage" is caused by an "occurrence" that takes place in the "covered territory"

* * *

2. Exclusions.

This insurance does not apply to:

* * *

- j. "Property damage" to
- (5) That particular part of real property on which you or any contractors or subcontractors working directly or indirectly on your behalf are performing operations, if the "property damage" arises out of those operations; or
- (6) That particular part of any property that must be restored, repaired or replaced because "your work" was incorrectly performed on it.

* * *

Paragraph (6) of this exclusion does not apply to "property damage" included in the "products-completed operations hazard".

- k. "Property damage" to "your product" arising out of it or any part of it.
- l. "Property damage" to "your work" arising out of it or any part of it and including in the "products-completed operations hazard".

This exclusion does not apply if the damaged work or the work out of which the damage arises was performed on your behalf by a subcontractor.

The policy defines the products-completed operations hazard as follows:

- 11. a. "Products-completed operations hazard" includes all "bodily injury" and "property damage" occurring away from the premises you own or rent and arising out of "your product" or "your work" except:
 - (1) Products that are still in your physical possession; or
 - (2) Work that has not yet been completed or abandoned.
- b. Your work will be deemed completed at the earliest of the following

times:

- (1) When all of the work called for in your contract has been completed.
- (2) When all of the work to be done at the site has been completed if your contract calls for work at more than one site.
- (3) When that part of the work done at a job site has been put to its intended use by any person or organization other than another contractor or subcontractor working on the same project.

Work that may need service, maintenance, correction, repair or replacement, but which is otherwise complete, will be treated as completed.

- c. This hazard does not include "bodily injury" or "property damage" arising out of:
 - (1) The transportation of property, unless the injury or damage arises out of a condition in or on a vehicle created by the "loading or unloading" of it;
 - (2) The existence of tools, uninstalled equipment or abandoned or unused materials:
 - (3) Products or operations for which the classification in this Coverage part or in our manual of rules includes products or completed operations.

(D.E. 1, Ex. C).

The Policy defines "your work" as:

- a. Work or operations performed by you or on your behalf, and
- b. Materials, parts or equipment furnished in connection with such work or operations.

"Your work" includes:

a. Warranties or representation made at any time with respect to the fitness, quality, durability, performance or use of "your work"; andb. The providing of or failure to provide warnings or instructions.

The Policy further states:

- 12. "Property damage" means:
- a. Physical injury to tangible property, including all resulting loss of use of

that property. All Such loss of use shall be deemed to occur at the time of the physical injury that caused it; or

b. Loss of use of tangible property that is not physically injured. All such loss shall be deemed to occur at the time of the "occurrence" that caused it.

(Id.)

Trial proceedings:

Pozzi, as assignee of the insureds Coral and Irby, sued Auto-Owners for breach of contract and common law bad faith. (D.E. 1)

Upon cross motions for summary judgment on the issue of insurance coverage under the insurance policy, the district court judge determined that coverage existed under the policy and that Auto-Owners had breached the policy. (D.E. 91) The district court judge determined that the CGL policy provided coverage for the repair and replacement damages sought by Pozzi. (D.E. 91) The order makes no reference to any case law, especially Florida case in existence at the time of the ruling.

The case went to jury trial on the issue of the reasonableness of the consent judgment and bad faith and damages.

At trial Pozzi called as a witness the attorney who had represented Pozzi in the underlying lawsuit brought by Perez and in its claim against Coral and Irby.

Daniel Newman agreed that Perez alleged that the windows were defectively and

deficiently designed and manufactured. (D.E. 215, page 55). Mr. Newman had attended the mediation in the underlying state court action. At that mediation, Pozzi's attorneys, not Mr. Newman, relied on out of state decisions on the issue of insurance coverage in their presentation. (D.E. 215, page 57) Mr. Newman agreed that Florida law governed the Auto-Owners policy and that it was his understanding that there was no coverage under Florida law. (D.E. 215, page 58-59)

Over Auto-Owners' objection (D.E. 89; 215, page 86), Phil Gallagher testified as an expert for Pozzi. Mr. Gallagher testified as to the use of ISO forms as standard forms in the industry. (D.E. 215, page 93) He correctly explained CGL coverage: "Therefore, the contract or the service organization buys completed operations coverage to take care of the exposure that exists after he is finished with that work. In the case of a building, if a piece of roof fell off or something like that and injured a passerby; then the completed operations coverage would cover the contract. That type after an incident." (Id., page 96)

Coral and Irby's personal counsel, Stanley Klett, also testified. Mr. Klett explained that the reservation of rights letter sent by Auto-Owners (D.E. 1, Ex. D) was a typical letter sent by an insurance company to advise the insured that it was providing coverage but reserving the right to deny coverage at a later if something

comes up. (D.E. 214, page 96) Auto-Owners provided a defense to both Coral and Irby. (Id., page 104) Auto-Owners never said that there was no coverage under the policy but that it would pay whatever damages are determined that are covered under the policy. (Id. at page 133)

Auto-Owners filed the declaratory action because it could not guarantee that there was coverage for Pozzi's claim against Coral and Irby. (Id., page 107) Mr. Klett agreed that it was proper procedure for the insurance company to file the dec action. (Id., page 123-124)

On the issue of coverage, Mr. Klett had researched the issue and testified that, at the time of the mediation in the underlying case, Auto-Owners' position on coverage was consistent with all the case law in Florida at the time. (Id., pages 125, 127) At the mediation of the underlying state court case, Pozzi did not cite any Florida law, but cited Wisconsin and Minnesota cases. (Id., page 126) The attorneys for Pozzi stated at the mediation that Florida's interpretation of the coverage under the policy was wrong and that they would change Florida law. (Id.)

In-house counsel for Auto-Owners reviewed the policy and explained the coverage analysis that the duty to defend is based on the four corners of the pleadings. (D.E. 216, page 92) Auto-Owners uses standard ISO forms. (Id., page 93) CGL policies with products completed operations hazard coverage still do not

provide coverage for defective workmanship. (Id., page 95) The policy issued to Coral and Irby is the same policy issued to Tripp in *Auto Owners Ins. Co. v. Tripp Construction, Inc.*, 737 So. 2d 600, 601 (Fla. 3d DCA 1999), which had similar facts with the products completed operations hazard provision. (Id., page 97)

In reviewing coverage under its policies, Auto-Owners could not ignore the Third District Court of Appeal and its decision in *Tripp Construction*. (Id., page 98) Auto-Owners considered *Tripp, Home Owners Warranty*¹ and *Lassiter*². (Id., pages 98-102) *Auto Owners Ins. Co. v. Travelers Cas. & Sur. Co.*, 227 F.Supp.2d 1248 (M.D. Fla. 2002) involved an Auto-Owners' policy with the same products completed operations hazard provision. (Id., page 107)

At the time of trial, Auto-Owners' in-house counsel testified that other than the decision that has been made in this case on coverage, he was not aware of any other decision in the State of Florida interpreting exclusion land a CGL policy with the products completed operation hazard coverage that had interpreted it to

¹Home Owners Warranty Corp. v. Hanover Ins. Co., 683 So. 2d 527 (Fla. 3d DCA 1996), rev. denied, 695 So. 2d 700 (Fla. 1997).

²Lassiter Construction Co. v. American States Ins. Co., 699 So. 2d 768 (Fla. 4th DCA 1997).

allow for coverage for repair and replacement of defective work. (Id., page 105)

The jury found in favor of Pozzi and awarded \$300,000.00 in compensatory damages. (D.E. 146) The jury also found that Auto-Owners was guilty of bad faith and awarded \$500,000.00 in punitive damages. (Id.) On post trial motions, the magistrate judge granted Auto-Owners' Motion for Judgment as Matter of Law on bad faith and set aside the punitive damage award. (D.E. 180) An Amended Final Judgment for \$300,000.00 plus prejudgment interest was entered in favor of Pozzi. (D.E. 189) Auto-Owners filed an appeal from the Amended Final Judgment and Pozzi cross appealed.

Appellate proceedings:

The Eleventh Circuit issued its opinion in *Pozzi Window Co. v. Auto-Owners Ins. Co.*, 446 F.3d 1178 (11th Cir. 2006). The court certified the issue of insurance coverage to this Court. The Eleventh Circuit stated: "The facts relevant to this appeal are basically undisputed and the parties agree that Florida law controls. Thus, the appeal turns on the purely legal question of the interpretation of the standard terms in CGL policies, such as the Policies in issue." *Id.* at 1187.

As to the cross-appeal, the Eleventh Circuit affirmed the granting of judgment as a matter of law in favor of Auto-Owners as to the issues of bad faith and punitive damages. *Id.* at 1188.

This case is now before this Court on the question certified by the Eleventh Circuit. This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to article V, section 3(b)(6), Florida Constitution.

STATEMENT OF THE STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review for this appeal on a question of the extent of coverage under the insurance policy and the interpretation of an insurance policy is *de novo. Coleman v. Florida Ins. Guar. Ass'n, Inc.*, 517 So.2d 686, 690 (Fla. 1988).

QUESTION CERTIFIED

DOES A STANDARD FORM COMPREHENSIVE GENERAL LIABILITY POLICY WITH PRODUCT COMPLETED OPERATIONS HAZARD COVERAGE, SUCH AS THE POLICIES DESCRIBED HERE, ISSUED TO A GENERAL CONTRACTOR, COVER THE GENERAL CONTRACTOR'S LIABILITY TO A THIRD PARTY FOR THE COSTS OF REPAIR OR REPLACEMENT OF DEFECTIVE WORK BY ITS SUBCONTRACTOR?

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Clearly established Florida law provides that a CGL insurance policy does not provide coverage for repair and replacement of defective workmanship. *Auto Owners Ins. Co. v. Tripp Construction, Inc.*, 737 So. 2d 600, 601 (Fla. 3d DCA 1999). This principle of law does not change if the CGL policy provides for products completed operations hazard. *Lassiter Construction Co. v. American States Ins. Co.*, 699 So. 2d 768 (Fla. 4th DCA 1997); *Auto Owners Ins. Co. v. Travelers Cas. & Sur. Co.*, 227 F.Supp.2d 1248 (M.D. Fla. 2002).

Florida has chosen to align itself with the majority of states in its construction of these policy provisions. *LaMarche v. Shelby Mutual Ins. Co.*, 390 So. 2d 325 (Fla. 1980) and its progeny. The public policy of Florida is that CGL policies do not provide coverage for defective work, but for defective work that injures or damages other property. The products completed operations hazard simply extends the insured's coverage to incidents of property damage or personal injury which occur after the completion of the work by the insured or its subcontractors and caused by the poor workmanship, not the repair of the work itself. *Auto Owners Ins. Co. v. Travelers Cas. & Sur. Co., supra*.

The decision of the district court judge in the current case and the decision of the Second District ion in *J.S.U.B., Inc. v. U. S. Fire Ins. Co.*, 906 So. 2d 303 (Fla. 2d DCA 2005) are contrary to existing Florida law and should be reversed.

The purpose of the CGL policies with PCOH coverage is to provide the contractor and its subcontractors with coverage for property damage or personal injury that occurs after the completion of the work. It is not intended to pay to redo the defective or poor work done by the insureds.

ARGUMENT

UNDER FLORIDA LAW A COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY INSURANCE POLICY WITH PRODUCTS COMPLETED OPERATIONS HAZARD DOES NOT COVER DAMAGES FOR REPAIR AND REPLACEMENT DUE TO DEFECTIVE WORKMANSHIP OF THE GENERAL CONTRACTOR OR ITS SUBCONTRACTOR.

A. The manufacturer's claim in the underlying case did not trigger coverage under the Auto-Owners' policy.

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