**IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA**

**CASE NUMBER: SC06-779  
L.T. CASE NO.: 05-10559-BB**

---

**AUTO-OWNERS INSURANCE COMPANY,**

**Appellant,**

**vs.**

**POZZI WINDOW COMPANY,**

**Appellee.**

---

**AMENDED  
ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE  
POZZI WINDOW COMPANY**

---

**ON A QUESTION CERTIFIED  
FROM THE UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS  
FOR THE ELEVENTH CIRCUIT**

---

Edmund M. Kneisel, Esq.  
Admitted Pro Hac Vice  
Richard E. Dolder, Esq.  
Florida Bar No.: 162647  
Kilpatrick Stockton LLP  
1100 Peachtree Street  
Suite 2800  
Atlanta, Georgia 30309-4530  
(404) 815-6500

##

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

The Auto-Owners' Policy does not bar coverage for the claims against Coral and Mr. Irby arising out of the negligent work of a subcontractor. As the Kalchthaler court noted:

We realize that under our holding a general contractor who contracts out all the work to subcontractors,

remaining on the job in a merely supervisory capacity, can ensure complete coverage for faulty workmanship. However, it is not our holding that creates this result: it is the addition of the new language to the policy. We have not made the policy close to a performance bond for general contractors, the insurance industry has.

591 N.W. 2d at 174.

Auto-Owners' Policy includes the "subcontractor exception," distinguishing it from the policy at issue in LaMarche. This Court should reject Auto-Owners' arguments because they (1) ignore the subcontractor exception to the "your work" exclusion, (2) ignore the undisputed facts showing that the PCOH loss was caused by a subcontractor, and (3) ignore the undisputed facts that establish coverage under the plain language of the policy.

b. The "business risks" concept does not bar PCOH coverage for liability arising from the negligence of subcontractors.

Auto-Owners' bases its argument on the erroneous proposition that the 1980 decision in LaMarche and the cases cited therein adopted an immutable presumption that a general contractor's liability for faulty workmanship is a "business risk" that is uninsurable as a matter of Florida public policy, no matter what the policy language says. In effect, Auto-Owners contends that it can collect an extra premium for PCOH coverage it sells and then ignore policy language expressly extending the PCOH coverage to general contractors facing legal liability for property damage caused by a negligent subcontractor. As noted above,

LaMarche did not construe a policy that included the form of PCOH coverage at issue here. Rather, as acknowledged by Auto-Owners' witness at trial, the LaMarche Court applied different coverage exclusions and did not consider policy language expressly covering claims based on negligent work by a subcontractor.<sup>14</sup> Auto-Owners' statement in its brief that the policies construed in LaMarche "are similar to the policies of Auto-Owners" is plainly wrong (Auto-Owners' Brief, Pg. 19) and, as discussed above, contradicts the trial testimony of its own corporate representative, Mr. Norris. The different policy language added to the ISO CGL form in 1986 was outcome determinative in JSUB, 906 So. 2d 303, because the current CGL policy language contains significantly different wording (the subcontractor exception) than the policy considered in LaMarche.<sup>15</sup>

The ruling in JSUB is fully consistent with the weight of recent authority elsewhere recognizing that the so-called "business risk" rationale cannot be used to

---

<sup>14</sup> LaMarche relied on Weedo v. Stone-E-Brick, Inc., 405 A.2d 788 (N.J. 1979), a leading cases applying the "business risks" concept. However, the Weedo court clearly relied on "the CGL provisions of the policy in question." Id. at 790. The policy "in question," like the policy at issue in LaMarche, did not include the 1986 ISO language providing PCOH coverage for the negligent work of a subcontractor.

<sup>15</sup> Like JSUB, the decision in Biltmore Constr. Co., Inc. v. Owners' Ins. Co., 842 So. 2d 947 (Fla. 2d DCA 2003), rev. dismissed, 846 So. 2d 1148 (Fla. 2003) applying the PCOH coverage in a leaking window "products" case, correctly recognized that LaMarche did not control because it addressed a different form of CGL policy than the policy at issue in the Biltmore Constr. case.

nullify the actual terms of the CGL policy that apply to the claim. See American Family Mut. Ins. Co. v. American Girl, Inc., 673 N.W.2d 65, 78 (Wis. 2004); Wanzek Constr., Inc. v. Employers Ins. Co. of Wausau, 679 N.W.2d 322, 324-27 (Minn. 2004); Kvaerner Metals v. Commercial Union Ins. Co., 825 A.2d 641, 655-59 (Pa. Super. 2003); Kalchthaler v. Keller Constr. Co., supra; O’Shaughnessy v. Smuckler Corp, supra.

For example, as the Wisconsin Supreme Court recently ruled in American Girl:

Cases in Wisconsin and in other jurisdictions have consistently recognized that the 1986 CGL revisions restored otherwise excluded coverage for damage caused to construction projects by subcontractor negligence. ...

This interpretation of the subcontractor exception to the business risk exclusion does not "create coverage" where none existed before, as American Family contends. There is coverage under the insuring agreement's initial coverage grant. Coverage would be excluded by the business risk exclusionary language, except that the subcontractor exception to the business risk exclusion applies, which operates to restore the otherwise excluded coverage.

Id., 673 N.W.2d at 83-84. In American Girl, supra at 83, the Wisconsin Supreme Court agreed with the previous ruling of the Wisconsin court of appeals in Kalchthaler, supra, and with O’Shaughnessy, supra, in which the Minnesota court explained that the business risk limitation does not apply when there is an express grant of PCOH coverage against liability for subcontractor negligence:

Here, we are faced not with an omission, but an affirmative statement on the part of those who drafted the policy language, asserting that the exclusion does not apply to damages arising out of the work of a subcontractor. It would be willful and perverse for this court simply to ignore the exception that has now been added to the exclusion.

We cannot conclude that the exception to exclusion (l) has no meaning or effect. The CGL policy already covers damage to the property of others. The exception to the exclusion, which addresses ‘property damage’ to ‘your work,’ must therefore apply to damages to the insured’s own work that arise out of the work of a subcontractor. Thus, we conclude that the exception at issue was intended to narrow the Business Risk Doctrine.

O’Shaughnessy, 543 N.W.2d at 104-05 (emphasis added). Recent decisions addressing the subcontractor exception are fully consistent with this analysis.

For example, in Broadmoor Anderson v. National Fire Ins. Co. of La., 912 So. 2d 400 (La. Ct. App. 2005), destructive testing showed that the subcontractor’s defective workmanship when installing shower tiles caused shower pans to leak, damaging a hotel. Id. at 401. The general contractor sought insurance coverage for the costs incurred in settling the hotel owner’s property damage claims, including repairing “the work of its subcontractor” and “the costs of repairing the shower assemblies.” Id. at 403. While the Broadmoor court focused on whether there was an occurrence, the court specifically noted that the “subcontractor exception” renders the “your work” exclusion inapplicable when the insured/general contractor experiences the “unanticipated risk” of its

subcontractors' defective work. Id. at 407-08. Other Louisiana courts have followed this result, paying special attention to the fact that PCOH coverage is only obtained after the insured pays an additional premium. Supreme Servs. & Specialty Co., Inc. v. Sonny Greer, Inc., 930 So. 2d 1077 (La. Ct. App. 2006).

As ruled recently by the Kansas Supreme Court in a case involving replacement of leaky windows installed by a subcontractor:

A court need only ask *why* the CGL policy specifically includes an express exception to the 'your work' exclusion for property damage arising out of the work of a subcontractor to understand that this kind of property damage must be included in the broad scope of the term 'occurrence' in the coverage grant, and that the coverage determination for this kind of property damage must be made based on the construction-specific policy exclusions.

Lee Builders Inc. v. Farm Bureau Mut. Ins. Co., No. 90,944, 2006 WL 1561294 \*10 (Kan. June 9, 2006) (emphasis in original). This analysis echoes the ruling in JSUB and is consistent with the rules of policy construction applied in CTC Dev., 720 So. 2d at 1074-75 ("Reading the coverage provision of the policy together with the exclusionary clause could support a conclusion that coverage is provided.").

Auto-Owners does not and cannot invoke the "no occurrence" defense in this case; and once the issue of whether or not actual "property damage" had occurred was resolved, none of the courts in the foregoing cases had any difficulty

finding PCOH coverage under the subcontractor exception. A recent decision of the Texas Court of Appeals, relying in part on Florida law, is fully in accord with these rulings. Lennar Corp. v. Great American Ins. Co., No. 14-02-00860, 2006 WL 406609 (Tex. Ct. App. 2006). This case contains a thorough and complete exposition of the applicable legal principles and recent authorities applying those principles that should be instructive in this case.

The Texas Court of Appeals noted (1) that Weedo and other courts adopting the “business risks” concept applied an “earlier version” of the CGL policy form which did not contain a subcontractor exception; (2) that the ““business risks’ doctrine... has been modified by the subcontractor exception”; (3) that “the subcontractor exception demonstrates insurers intended to cover some defective construction resulting in damage to the insured’s work”; and (4) that “finding no occurrence” when defective construction damages “the insured’s work would render the subcontractor exception superfluous and meaningless.” Id. at \*11. The court concluded that applying the proposition that “an exception to an exclusion cannot create coverage” to a policy containing the subcontractor exception would be “contrary to the principle that we consider the whole policy to ascertain the parties’ intent and give effect to all parts, so that none will be rendered superfluous and meaningless.” Id. (citing JSUB). As ruled in Lennar Corp.:

[T]he subcontractor exception does not create coverage where none otherwise exists under the “insuring agreement.” Rather, it restores

coverage that originally existed... but was precluded by the [unmodified] “your work” exclusion.

Id. This analysis is fully consistent with the rules of policy construction applied in JSUB and by this Court in CTC Dev. JSUB, supra at 310; CTC Dev., supra at 1074-75

The rulings in Lennar Corp. and the other recent cases cited above are fully consistent with the “guiding principles” of Florida insurance law applied by this Court. Because it is undisputed that the insured’s liability arose out of subcontractor Brian Scott’s defective workmanship that caused the windows to warp and leak, damaging other property as well as the windows themselves, the pre-1986 cases simply do not apply; therefore, the trial court properly ruled that the post-1986 ISO policy language provided coverage for such claims.

- c. There is no Florida “public policy” that would release Auto-Owners from the duties it undertook in charging an extra premium for PCOH coverage.

Auto-Owners cannot rely on the rubric of “public policy” to nullify the plain language of its Policy. No such policy bars coverage for the vicarious liability of a general contractor for the negligent work of a subcontractor, and there is no evidence in the record of this case that the window installer somehow conspired with Auto-Owners’ insureds to intentionally damage the Perez home. Indeed, even if an “intentional tort” were involved, this Court’s recent analysis of Florida public policy would not prohibit insurance coverage for such a claim. Travelers Indem.

Co. v. PCR, Inc., 889 So. 2d 779, 781-82 (Fla. 2004). In PCR, Inc., an employer sought liability coverage for claims based on its alleged creation of a workplace hazard that was “substantially certain” to cause injury and that did in fact injure a worker. Id. at 781-82. In addressing the coverage claims, this Court considered (1) “whether the existence of insurance will directly stimulate commission of the wrongful act” and (2) whether the liability insured against is “to deter wrongdoers or compensate victims.” Id. at 794. This Court held that public policy did not prohibit an employer from obtaining insurance coverage for liability incurred under the “substantially certain” test for intentional torts. Id. at 796.

In this case, it is undisputed that the property damage at issue was caused by the negligent work of a third-party subcontractor, not by an intentional tort by the insureds. Also, the only damages at issue in this case are compensatory, awarded to reimburse Pozzi, as assignee of the insureds, for losses incurred as a result of property damage caused by the negligence of Brian Scott. Thus, even under the “intentional tort” analysis set forth in Travelers, Auto-Owners could not invoke “public policy” as an excuse for refusing to apply the plain language of its insurance contract to reimburse the damages at issue.

The insured/general contractor must pay an extra premium to obtain coverage protecting against the unanticipated risk of a subcontractor’s defective work. Auto-Owners’ argument that “public policy” bars enforcement of such a

policy rests on the fallacious assumption that general contractors do not care if subcontractors negligently perform their work, so long as there is insurance coverage for the resulting damage.<sup>16</sup> Auto-Owners offers no record evidence to support this uninformed assumption. Common sense suggests that general contractors, like other commercial concerns, enjoy repeat business based on their reputations for quality work. No one wants to get sued, even if there is insurance coverage for any resulting liability. Insurers should not be allowed to continue to charge an extra premium for PCOH coverage, but fail to give it effect by invoking a post hoc, specious argument that it must deny coverage under the policy to discourage “sloppy work.”

Florida public policy does not justify nullification of express policy language that extends coverage to a general contractor for liability resulting from

---

<sup>16</sup> A general contractor noted for “sloppy” work would soon find it difficult to obtain a required surety bond, as such bonds may be triggered by “sloppy” work (or uncompleted work) that does not cause any physical damage to insured property. When such physical damage occurs, as happened here, and arises out of the subcontractor’s work, the contractor’s CGL policy also would respond. Contrary to the arguments espoused in some cases, the fact that the CGL policy would cover such claims does not “convert” a CGL policy providing PCOH coverage to a construction bond. Lennar Corp., *supra* at \*11 (noting that a construction bond is “broader than a CGL policy”). In Lennar, the Texas Court of Appeals cited Federal Ins. Co. v. Southwest Florida Retirement Center, Inc., 707 So. 2d 1119 (Fla. 1998) for the proposition that a performance bond ensures “completion of the work upon contractor’s default and insure[s] against losses the owner may suffer if the default occurs.” Id.

damages caused by a subcontractor's negligence. The PCOH coverage Auto-Owners sold to its insureds would be entirely illusory if Auto-Owners' arguments to the contrary were accepted by this Court.<sup>17</sup>

**2. Auto-Owners' Arguments that Misconstrue the Issues Before this Court Should Not Be Considered in Answering the Certified Question.**

The issue before this Court can and should be addressed by analyzing the plain language of the Policy and the subcontractor exception contained therein. Auto-Owners' arguments that do not address this issue are irrelevant and should be rejected. First, Auto-Owners refers to Pozzi as the "manufacturer" and discusses whether there is coverage for an allegedly defective "product." At page 33 of its brief, Auto-Owners asserts that "[t]o find coverage under Auto-Owners' policies is to make the insurer the warrantor of the manufacturer's product." Like the "occurrence" issue, this issue was not raised in the court below and is not properly before this court. See note 5, supra. To be sure, Pozzi did manufacture the damaged windows and some manufacturers purchase liability coverage; however, such a policy is not at issue in this case. In fact, the Auto-Owners'

---

<sup>17</sup> An insurance policy should not be interpreted in a manner that would render the coverage illusory. Purrelli v. State Farm Fire & Cas. Co., 698 So. 2d 618, 620 (Fla. 4th DCA 1997) (reversing judgment for insurer because "[w]hen limitations or exclusion completely contradict the insuring provisions, insurance coverage becomes illusory."); Meister v. Utica Mut. Ins. Co., 573 So. 2d 128 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991) (refusing to adopt interpretation of exclusion that would render coverage illusory), rev. denied, 583 So. 2d 1038 (Fla. 1991).

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